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I. Introduction:  The Public Interest Dictates That Even If a Violation Is Found, An 
Exclusion Order Should Not Issue On The Standard-Essential Patents In This 
Investigation 

On August 3, 2013 the United States Trade Representative (“USTR”) disapproved of a 

limited exclusion order and cease and desist order issued by the Commission in Certain Electronic 

Devices, Including Wireless Communication Devices, Portable Music and Data Processing Devices, 

and Tablet Computers, ITC Inv. No. 337-TA-794.  Aug. 3, 2010 Letter from Amb. Michael Forman 

to The Hon. Irving A. Williamson (hereafter “Disapproval Notice).  The Disapproval Notice cited 

with favor a January 8, 2013 Policy Statement jointly issued by the Department of Justice and the 

United States Patent and Trademark Office.  See Policy Statement on Remedies for Standard-

Essential Patents Subject to Voluntary FRAND Commitments, Jan. 8, 2013, available at 

http://www.justice.gov/atr/public/guidelines/290994.pdf.  The Disapproval Notice states the Policy 

Statement’s position that, “to mitigate against patent hold-up, exclusionary relief from the 

Commission based on FRAND-encumbered SEPs should be available based only on the relevant 

factors described in the Policy Statement,” which include the inability or unwillingness of a licensee 

to accept a FRAND license while continuing to act outside the scope of the patent holder’s 

commitment to license on FRAND terms, or if the putative licensee is not subject to the jurisdiction 

of a court that could award damages.  Disapproval Notice at 2 fn.3 (citing Policy Statement at 7-8).  

In closing, the USTR stated that, before a limited exclusion order could issue with respect to patents 

that have been determined to be essential to the practice of a standard,  

the Commission should be certain to (1) to examine thoroughly and carefully on its 
own initiative the public interest issues presented at both the outset of its proceeding 
and (2) seek proactively to have the parties develop a comprehensive record related to 
these issues in the proceedings before the Administrative Law Judge and during the 
formal remedy phase of the investigation before the Commission, including 
information on the standards-essential nature of the patent at issue if contested by the 
patent holder and the presence or absence of patent hold-up or reverse hold-up. 
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Disapproval Notice at 3.  In this investigation (and indeed throughout the long history of its licensing 

program and in prior litigation), LSI has argued and continues to contend that the ‘663 patent is 

essential to the practice of the H.264 standard, and that the ‘867 and ‘958 patents are essential to the 

practice of the 802.11 standard.  Pursuant to the USTR’s request, the Commission asked the parties 

to brief several questions concerning LSI’s behavior with respect to these patents, and LSI’s RAND 

obligations to both the IEEE and ITU, in order to determine whether an exclusion order or cease and 

desist order is in the public interest.  Review Order at 4-5. 

In his Final Initial Determination, the ALJ rejected LSI’s arguments that the patents at issue 

were standard-essential, and found that the ‘663, ‘867 and ‘958 patents were not infringed.  The ALJ 

was correct in his analysis, and the Commission should uphold this determination on review, 

rendering the need for a public interest analysis moot.  However, should the Commission reverse the 

ALJ and find a violation of Section 337 based on infringement of any of these three patents, Funai 

submits that the public interest requires the Commission to nevertheless decline to issue a limited 

exclusion order and/or a cease and desist order.  Complainants have also signed FRAND 

commitments with the ITU (for the ‘663 patent) and with the IEEE (for the ‘867 and ‘958 patents) 

and have used the alleged standard essential characterization of these three patents to its benefit;  

.  Complainants should now be judicially estopped from attempting to walk away 

from its prior positions and commitments in order to try to escape its FRAND obligations here.  

Moreover, the facts are clear that Funai negotiated in good faith with LSI to seek a fair, reasonable 

and non-discriminatory license, that LSI never made an offer that complied with its RAND 

obligations, and that Funai is prepared to accept a FRAND offer.  Further, to the extent the 

Commission may determine there is infringement of the ‘663, ‘867 and ‘958 patents (as the ID 

correctly found, there is not), Funai is already subject to the jurisdiction of a court that can award 

damages commensurate with a RAND license.  Indeed, LSI sued Funai in the United States District 
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Court for the Central District of California on these three patents on the same day it filed the 

complaint that led to this investigation, and that case is stayed according to statute pending the 

completion of this investigation.  

II. Question 1 

Please discuss and cite any record evidence of the allegedly RAND-encumbered nature 
of the declared standard essential ' 663, '958, and ' 867 patents. With regard to the '958 
patent and the ' 867 patent, what specific contract rights and/or obligations exist 
between the patentee and the applicable standard-setting organization, i.e., the Institute 
of Electrical and Electronic Engineers, Inc. (IEEE)? With regard to the '663 patent, 
what specific contract rights and/or obligations exist between the patentee and the 
applicable standard-setting organization, i.e., the International Telecommunication 
Union (ITU)? 

A. The RAND Encumbrances of the Asserted Patents. 

There is no dispute in this investigation that LSI has RAND obligations in connection with 

the ’958, ’867, and ’663 patents and what those RAND obligations are. 

1. The ’958 and ’867 Patents and the Institute of Electrical and 
Electronics Engineers (IEEE). 

LSI concedes that it has RAND obligations in connection with the ’958 and ’867 patents, 

stating that the patents  

 RX-2472C at RX-

2472C.0114; see also CX-1599C at QA 47. 

Several documents underpin LSI’s RAND obligation. On April 29, 1998, Lucent 

Technologies (LSI’s predecessor-in-interest) declared to the IEEE that  

 

 

 RX-1161C at RX-1161C.0001.  

 

 Id. 
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In January 2003, Agere (Lucent’s successor-in-interest) provided a letter of assurance to the 

IEEE for essential patents. RX-1130C  at RX-1130C.0002. Specifically, Agere assured the IEEE that 

it was 

 

 Id.; see also id. at RX-1130C.0002 

 

 

. The appendix to Agere’s 

assurance includes the ’958 patent and the patent application (10/092,295) that would issue as the 

’867 patent. RX-1130C  at RX-1130C.0003; see also RX-1139 at RX-1139.0001–.0004 (providing 

similar content); RX-1140  at RX-1140.0012 (requiring assurance that patent holder either will not 

enforce essential patents or agree to license the patents “without compensation or under reasonable 

rates, with reasonable terms and conditions that are demonstrably free of any unfair discrimination”). 

B. The ’663 Patent and the Internet & Telecomm Union (ITU). 

LSI concedes in sworn interrogatory responses that the ’663 patent  

 

 RX-2472C  at RX-2472C.0114; see also CX-1599C  at QA 47.  

That concession is corroborated by significant documentary evidence. In May 2002, Lowell 

Winger of VideoLocus (which was later acquired by LSI) submitted a proposal to the ITU that 

disclosed technology related to the ’663 patent. RX-0740  at RX-0740.0001–.0005; see also JX-

0057C  at 124:23–125:3 (describing relationship of technology in ITU proposal to that of the ’663 

patent). Under that proposal, VideoLocus agreed “to grant—on the basis of reciprocity for the above 

Recommendation / Standard—a license to an unrestricted number of applicants on a worldwide, non-
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discriminatory basis and on reasonable terms and conditions to manufacture, use and/or sell 

implementations of the above Recommendation / Standard.” RX-0740 at RX-0740.0007. 

In September 2002, VideoLocus made a licensing declaration to the ITU for the ’663 patent. 

RX-1142  at RX-1142.0001. VideoLocus’s declaration obligated it to “grant a license to an 

unrestricted number of applicants on a worldwide, nondiscriminatory basis and on reasonable terms 

and conditions to use the patented material necessary in order to manufacturer, use, and/or sell 

implementations of the above ITU-T Recommendation I ISO/IEC International Standard.” Id.; see 

also RX-1141 at RX-1141.0003–.0004. LSI inherited this obligation when it acquired VideoLocus. 

III. Question 2 

 Please summarize the history to date of negotiations between LSI and Funai and 
between LSI and Realtek concerning any potential license to the '663, the '958, and the 
'867 patents, either alone, in conjunction with each other and/or the '087 patent, and/or 
in conjunction with non-asserted patents. Please provide copies of, or cite to their 
location in the record evidence, all offers and communications related to the 
negotiations including any offer or counteroffer made by Funai and Realtek. 

A. Funai’s Good Faith Negotiations with LSI  

Funai negotiated in good faith with LSI  before LSI filed this investigation 

in March 2012, and has continued to negotiate even during the pendency of this investigation.  Yet 

after  of zigging and zagging positions by Complainants, Funai is still awaiting an offer 

that could be considered “fair and reasonable” under any standard.   

LSI first contacted Funai to request negotiations concerning its patent portfolio  

.  (Exh. 1).  LSI stated that it wanted to  

  Id.  LSI asserted that it had  

 

 

  LSI listed  in various combinations 

that it believed infringed – however, .  Id. 
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at 2. LSI requested a meeting with Flmai 

!d. 

The first face-to-face negotiations between LSI and Flmai took place . 

At this meeting, LSI explained 

. CX-0389C.0018 

(Exh. 2) . As explained by LSI, 

CX-0389C.0019. LSI provided an example based upon an assumption that it 

was entitled to. royalty on Funai's products, 

!d. However, LSI provided no justification whatsoever for its claim of 

II royalty, . !d. 

Funai provided a counterstatement to LSI's assettion of- , including the '663 

patent. CX-1396C (Exh. 3). With respect to the '663 patent, Funai inf01med LSI 

•
2 CX-1396C.0002. 

Funai either inf01med LSI 

- CX-1396C. 

The next negotiation between Funai and LSI took place 

.3 See CX-1145C. At tllis initial 

meeting, LSI discussed : the '663 patent assetted in this investigation,-

. Id. at CX-1145C.0030-0037, 0046-

0075. 

2 There is no record of an assertion of the '663 
3 

6 
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.  CX-0323C (Exh. 5).   

. 

At a response meeting , Funai informed LSI that,  

 

.  See Exh. 6.  Funai also provided  

 

.  Id.   

 

 

  Exh. 7 at 5; Exh 8. 

The fourth meeting between Funai and LSI occurred .  At this meeting, 

Funai and LSI .  For the 

‘663 patent, Funai informed LSI that .   

.  CX-

1395C (Exh.9).  LSI agreed that it would further respond regarding the ‘663 patent  

  CX-1146C.0004-0005.   

 

 

.  CX-1146C.0043-0044.  In a separate presentation,  

 

.  CX-0326C (Exh. 10).  Again, . 

   sent a second notice letter to 

Funai.  (Exh. 11).  The notice letter noted that Funai was  
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  In this letter, LSI listed  that it 

believed were infringed by Funai products.   

  Id. 

The next meeting between the parties was .  At this meeting, Funai 

explained  its position that the ‘663 patent was not infringed by  products.  

CX-1147C.0004-0005.  For the  discussed 

, LSI simply reiterated its position that the patents were infringed by Funai’s products. 

Exhs. 12 -13.  Once more, . 

Funai and LSI met next .  At this meeting,  

.  CX-329C (Exh. 14).  However, discussion largely 

continued around the same groups of patents, including the ‘663 patent.  CX-1515C (Exh. 15).   

 

 

.  CX-0329.0089-0094, 0143-150.  

, the parties met once more.  This meeting between the parties primarily 

consisted of Funai’s responses to LSI’s presentation  

 including the ‘663 patent.  CX-1397C (Exh. 16).   

  CX-0330C (Exh. 17).  , LSI 

presented high-level terms to Funai for a license.  Exh. 18.   

.  Instead,  

.  Id. at 3.   

 

 

.  Id. at 30.  According to LSI,  
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.  Id. at 31.   

  

 

.  Id. at 32.  LSI did not explain: 

why it believed it was entitled to a  

 

 

 

. 

The next meeting between the parties was .   

 

  CX-0332C (Exh. 19).   

, LSI continued to press 

Funai for a license.  See, e.g., CX-0333C.0007-0008  

 

 

 

 0042-0047  

 

 

 

During a conference call  , was presented with an 

update of what LSI believed was a “fair, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory” license that 
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encompassed the ‘663 patent.   

  

 

 

 

  CX-0334C.0005 (Exh. 20).   

  CX-0334C.0006.   

  CX-0334C.0010.  Again,  

 

   LSI offered rates  

.  CX-0334C.0008.  

Finally, LSI offered  

.  CX-0334C.0013. 

Funai and LSI met again .  CX-0335C (Exh. 21), CX-0336C (Exh. 22).  

At this time, LSI simply stated  

.  On one patent, ,  

  At the end of the presentation,  

.  CX-0335C.0077.  Funai responded on 

  

 

 

 

  CX-1288C.0003-0004 (Exh. 23).  Nevertheless,  
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.  CX-1288C.0006. 

 the parties met to discuss a technical presentation by LSI, a licensing 

and patent portfolio overview, and an LSI business presentation.  CX-0340C.0004 (Exh. 24).  In its 

technical presentation, LSI responses to Funai’s  comments .  

Again,  

.  See CX-0337C.0006 

(Exh. 25).  Indeed, LSI continued to assert infringement of , 

 

.  CX-0037C.0041-0058  

.  CX-0339C (Exh. 26).   

 

. CX-0341C.0040, 0063 

 

 

  

.   

.  

CX-1094C.0045. 

 Funai provided LSI with a further counterproposal. CX-1094C (Exh. 

27).  In its further counterproposal,  
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  CX-1094C.0010.   

 

 

  CX-1094C.0029, 

0035.   

, Funai sent LSI a counterproposal by letter.  (Exh. 28).  Funai’s letter 

noted that for  

 

  Id.  With respect to the  including the ‘663 patent, Funai 

noted that  

  Id.  Funai requested that 

LSI 4  Id.  Funai reiterated its 

counterproposal in  follow-up letter. CX-1097C (Exh. 29). 

, LSI provided a counterproposal to Funai’s  proposal.  LSI 

now  

 

.  CX-0343C.0001-

0002 (Exh. 30), Exh. 31.  The parties arranged a further meeting, which took place  

, Funai countered  

.  CX-1096C.0013 (Exh. 32). 

                                                 
4 There is no record that LSI approached any of Funai’s component manufacturers prior to filing the 
complaint in this investigation against Funai in order to discuss further the non-infringement 
positions provided to Funai by its component manufacturers. 
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 the parties met once more and LSI presented another 

counterproposal.5 LSI now  

 

.  CX-0349C.0007. 

 the parties continued their discussion.  Funai counteroffered  

 

 

  CX-1565C (Exh. 33).  During this 

meeting, Funai also requested that, in the event LSI did not accept Funai’s offer, that  

, including 

the ‘867 and ‘958 patents.   

LSI responded to Funai’s request for a RAND license to, inter alia, the ‘867 and ‘958 patents 

in a letter to  of Funai, .  CX-0348C.  Despite acknowledging 

that the  

 

 (see 

id. at 1), LSI purported to meet its RAND obligation by demanding  

.  Given that the cost of Funai’s 

products with wireless capability range from  

.   

, LSI presented a revised offer to Funai.  LSI now offered  

 

                                                 
5 Due to a change in the hierarchy of Funai’s IP licensing group, there was an additional meeting on 

, during which the negotiators for LSI introduced themselves to the new head of the IP 
licensing group.  CX-0345C. 
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.  CX-0349C.0026.  LSI 

 the ‘867 and ‘958 

patents, .  CX-1545C (Exh. 34).6   LSI 

confirmed that it believed the ‘867 and ‘958 patents, among others, were essential to the practice of 

the 802.11 standard.  CX-1543C (Exh. 35); Exh. 36. 

, Funai offered to  with 

LSI.  Exh. 37.   

 

.  Id. at 1-2.   

.  Id. at 2.  In return 

.  Id. at 3. 

 LSI offered  to resolve a dispute 

between the parties as to whether, under U.S. patent law,   

 

 

  

Exh. 38 at 2.  Funai responded to this letter  with a counterproposal  

 

.  CX-1090C (Exh. 39).   

The parties continued to discuss .  Exh. 40; Exh. 

41; CX-1092C (Exh. 42).  Indeed, LSI’s  letter praises  

 

                                                 
6 .  CX-1543C (Exh. 35). 
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.  

 Exh. 40.  

 

 7 Exh. 41 . 

Between institution of this investigation and the hearing, LSI and Funai have discussed a 

license, but were unable to reach agreement on the cunent postt1re of negotiations. LSI has taken the 

position that Funai has yet to respond  

. Flmai has taken the position that it 

responded to LSI's proposal . 

IV. Question 3 

Please summarize all licenses to the '663, the '958, and the '867 patents granted by LSI 
to any entity including evidence of the value of each patent if such patent was licensed 
as part of a patent portfolio. Please provide copies of, or cite to their location in the 
record evidence, all agreements wherein LSI grants any entity a license to these patents. 
Please also provide a comparison of the offers made to Funai and/or Realtek with offers 
made to these other entities. 

A. LSI's History of Licensing Its Standard-Essential Patents 

As required under 19 C.F.R. § 210. 12(a)(9)(iii), LSI purpo1ted to list "the identification of 

each licensee under each involved U.S. patent" in its Complaint (see Amended Complaint, Exh. 1C), 

and in response to an intenogat01y from Funai, disclosed the exact identity 

the '663, '867 and '958 patents: 

7 The parties eventt1ally  
. 

15 

to 

PUBLIC VERSION



PUBLIC VERSION



 

See LSI C01poration's and Agere Systems Inc. 's Fomth Supplemental Response To Funai 

Respondents' Second Set Of intenogatodes (No. 101). 

The licenses identified by LSI are of minimal value in dete1mining a RAND rate for the '663, 

'867 and '958 patents. In each instance, 

- of other patents owned by Agere or LSI. Virtually all of the above licenses also involved 

Finally, eve1y license except LSI's license with 

and therefore inappropriate to dete1mining a RAND rate 

. Hg. Tr. (Waskiewicz) at 151:1-7, 1405:9-1406:14. To the extent any of the license 

is a useful comparison to LSI's final offer to Funai  

licenses are the closest, and as Dr. Leonard explained at the hearing, these licenses demonstrate that 

Funai was treated differently than- . While the and 

Funai were  

 for Funai than . RX-

0009C at Q/A 216-225. This resulted in  for Funai-than what 

was offered to - , and than what was offered to -

LSI's expe1t Dr. Ken pmpo1ted to disaggregate the value of the '663, '867 and '958 patents 

from LSI's licenses (see CX-1595C at Q/A 291, CX-0538C). However, as 

explained in the rebuttal witness statement of Dr. Thomas VanderVeen, Dr. Ken's analysis is replete 

with problems, foremost of which is that his analysis implicitly 

the '663, '867 and '958 patents. RX-2815C at Q/A 50-58, RX-

2823C. 

While the licenses identified by LSI are of limited value, LSI completely failed to disclose 

dming this investigation a licensing obligation that is far more valuable - indeed, is of cdtical 

17 
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importance to the Commission’s analysis here – which is its continuing obligation to  

.  As MPEG LA’s “Addendum of Patents of Withdrawn 

Licensors” clearly states, “[t]hose licensees with an AVC Patent Portfolio License in effect prior to 

the date of withdrawal indicated next to each patent retain their license under the respective 

withdrawn patent on and after the withdrawal date.”  See AVC Attachment 1, “Addendum of Patents 

of Withdrawn Licensors” (available at www.mpegla.com/main/programs/avc/Documents/avc-

att1.pdf) (emphasis in original).   .   

 

.   

 

 

Moreover, LSI’s pattern and practice demonstrate that  

.  For example, in this 

investigation,  (after LSI had already filed a complaint requesting the Commission 

begin an investigation)  

   

 

  

  See CX-1006C.  In some cases,  

 .  

See Exh. 43 CX-0394C  

 

 

. 
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V. Question 4 

If applicable, please discuss the industry practice for licensing patents involving 
technologies similar to the technologies in the ' 663, the '958, and the ' 867 patents 
individually or as part of a patent portfolio. 

A. Patent Licensing Practices in The Consumer Electronics Industry 

As set forth by LSI’s expert William Kerr, portfolio licensing is common in the consumer 

electronics industry.  See CX-1595C at Q/A 239.  Particularly for standard-essential patents, industry 

practice is to aggregate the relevant patents from multiple licensors into a single portfolio, commonly 

called a “patent pool.”  Patent pools permit potential licensees to negotiate a single license in order to 

be able to practice the relevant standard.  Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

60233 at *217-219 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 25, 2013).  Patent pooling is also a common method to avoid 

“royalty-stacking,” where multiple patentees make licensing demands for standard-essential patents 

which ultimately make use of the standard uneconomical.  See generally RX-0009C at Q/A 207-208; 

Microsoft, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60233 at *40-41, *213-216 (rejecting royalty of 0.6-0.8% of total 

price for 16 patents essential to H.264 standard due to stacking concerns).  

Two examples of patent pooling are directly relevant to the issues in this investigation.  First, 

many companies which own patents essential to the  H.264 standard have aggregated these patents 

into a pool which is managed by a third party, MPEG-LA.  See 

www.mpegla.com/main/programs/avc/Paghes/Intro.aspx (last visited Oct. 26, 2013).  Indeed, LSI 

itself was a member of the H.264 MPEG-LA patent pool .  See AVC 

Attachment 1, “Addendum of Patents of Withdrawn Licensors” (available at 

www.mpegla.com/main/programs/avc/Documents/avc-att1.pdf).  MPEG-LA’s H.264 patent pool 

licenses approximately 275 U.S. patents and over 2400 total patents to almost 1300 companies, 

including Funai.  Under a standard license with MPEG-LA,  

.  
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Exh. 44, Section 3.1.  Second, several companies that own patents essential to the 802.11 standard 

have aggregated these patents into a pool which is managed by Via Licensing.  This pool contains 

over 250 patents, which are licensed at rates between $0.05-$0.55 cents per unit for the entire pool.  

See http://www.vialicensing.com/licensing/ieee-80211-fees.aspx (last visited Oct. 26, 2013).  Both 

the MPEG LA and the Via Licensing patent pools have been found to be indicative of a RAND rate 

for patents essential to the H.264 and 802.11 standards, respectively.  Also see Microsoft, 2013 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS at *239-242, *266-269.  Setting a RAND royalty rate for Motorola’s H.264 SEP 

portfolio in a range of 0.555 and pursuant to the 16.389 cents per unit and the RAND royalty rate for 

Motorola’s 802.11 SEP portfolio in a range of 0.8 – 19.5 cents per unit and providing “economic 

guideposts for assessing RAND terms.  These include promoting adoption of the standard, mitigate 

against “patent hold up” and royalty stacking.  See also In re Innovatio IP Ventures, 2013 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 144061 (Oct. 3, 2013) (setting a RAND rate for Innovatio’s portfolio of 19 802.11 SEPs at 

9.5 cents per WiFi chip and rejecting Innovatio’s proposed “6% benchmark royalty rate.”) 

VI. Question 5 

Please identify the forums in which you have sought and/or obtained a determination of 
a RAND rate for the ' 663, the '958, and the '867 patents. LSI, Funai and Realtek are 
each requested to submit specific licensing terms for the '663, the '958, and the '867 
patents that each believes are reasonable and non-discriminatory. 

A. The Forums in Which Funai Has Sought Determination of a RAND Rate, and 
the Licensing Terms Funai Believes Are Reasonable and Non-Discriminatory 

Funai has not at this time sought affirmative determination of a RAND rate.  However, Funai 

believes that any RAND rate for the ‘867 and ‘958 patents that may be determined by the district 

court in Realtek Semiconductor Corp. v. LSI Corp., Case No. C-12-03451-RMW (N.D. Cal.), would 
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*266-269.  Again, given that LSI is only offering a license to two patents which it believes are 

essential to the H.264 standard, the RAND rate should, at best, be  

  This is also consistent with the rates for the patents offered as 

part of the 802.11 standard-essential patent pool offered by Via Licensing, as well as the 

approximately 0.5 cents per patent average rate found by the court in Innovatio Ventures.  See 

http://www.vialicensing.com/licensing/ieee-80211-fees.aspx (last visited Oct. 26, 2013); In re 

Innovatio IP Ventures, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144061 at .   

VII. Question 6 

Please discuss and cite any record evidence of any party attempting to gain undue 
leverage, or constructively refusing to negotiate a license, with respect to the ' 663, the ' 
958, and the '867 patents. Please specify how that evidence is relevant to whether section 
337 remedies with respect to such patents would be detrimental to competitive 
conditions in the U.S. economy and any other statutory public interest factor. 

A. Complainants’ Abuse of Their RAND-Encumbered Patents. 

Complainants’ have in several ways attempted to gain undue leverage over or constructively 

refuse to negotiate a license with Funai with respect to the ’663, ’958, and ’867 patents.  

Complainants’ have attempted to gain undue leverage with respect to these patents at least in 

four ways. First, and most recently, LSI  

 instituted this investigation rather than pursue Funai for 

infringement in district court. Undoubtedly, LSI sought relief from the Commission because the 

Commission can exclude infringing products from the United States. In effect, LSI seeks to take 

advantage of the Commission’s ability to enter what is effectively injunctive relief. LSI’s decision 

might make strategic sense, but it is inappropriate with respect to RAND-encumbered patents such as 

the ’663, ’958, and ’867 patents. When LSI declared its patents essential to a standard, it was 

agreeing to license the patents to anyone that wanted to practice the standard. Put another way, LSI 

was agreeing to accept as compensation for its patent rights a RAND royalty. Because money can 
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compensate LSI fully for any purported infringement, injunctive relief should be unavailable to LSI. 

See, e.g., Apple, Inc. v. Motorola, Inc., 869 F. Supp. 2d 901, 914–15 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (Posner, J.) (“I 

don’t see how, given FRAND, I would be justified in enjoining Apple from infringing the ’898 

unless Apple refuses to pay a royalty that meets the FRAND requirement.”). Nevertheless, by 

coming to Commission, LSI is trying “to extract holdup value by exercising market power that it 

would not have had absent the inclusion of its technology into the standards.” RX-0009C at QA38; 

see also id. at QA39–41. 

Second, LSI  

. On the one hand, this practice obscures the values associated with individual 

patents, making it more difficult to discern whether the licensing terms are RAND. The practice also 

effectively forces  

. This is true for both the ’663 

patent, Exh. 20 at CX-0334C.0003–.0013, and the ’958 and ’867 patents, Exh. 34  at CX-

1545C.0001–.0002.  

. 

Third, LSI does not account for the scores of patent holders that also are entitled to RAND 

rates for their intellectual property. This results in royalty stacking, which effectively overvalues the 

standard-essential patents, a phenomenon that RAND policies are designed to avoid. RX-0009C  at 

QAs 206-07. This is a very real problem. Ninety-two companies have submitted letters of assurance 

for patents covering the 802.11 standard. Id. at QA208. A little over half that number—forty-eight—

have declared patents essential to the H.264 standard. Id. If every holder of a RAND-encumbered 

patent for these standards was entitled to the royalty rate demanded by LSI, the total licensing fees 

for a client would be cost-prohibitively high. 
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Fourth, with respect to the ’663 patent, evidence exists that LSI declared the patent essential 

to the H.264 standard, even though alternatives to the technology of that patent existed. Dr. 

Leonard’s economic assessment of this issue relied on the  

  RX-0009C  at 

QAs 202–04 (quoting JX-0024C  at 161:3–16, 162:1–17). The impact of this is that the value of the 

’663 patent is less than what LSI portrays it to be. 

LSI has constructively denied Funai a license to the ’958 and ’867 patents by insisting on an 

inappropriately high royalty rate,  

 

 In particular, LSI offered Funai a  

royalty rate of  even though      

  . RX-0009C  at QAs 218–19, 222–23. LSI contends that  

Funai rate  . Hg. Tr. 

(Waskiewicz) 158:4–8. Accordingly, . Hg. Tr. 

(Leonard) at 1411:1–16. 

VIII. A Limited Exclusion Order Should Not Issue If A Violation Is Found For Any of the 
Patents In This Investigation  

The Commission’s notice of review indicated that it is “interested in receiving written 

submissions that address the form of remedy, if any, that should be ordered.”  Funai hereby submits 

its remedy submission as applicable to all of the patents at issue in this investigation.9   

A. The ALJ’s Recommended Determination That a Limited Exclusion Order 
Should be Issued Against Funai is Legally Erroneous.  

As part of his recommended determination (RD), the ALJ found that a limited exclusion 

order covering Funai’s downstream products is appropriate.  The ALJ, however, failed to properly 

                                                 
9 For the additional reasons stated in Sections I.-VII. above, Funai believes that a limited exclusion order should also 
not issue in the event a violation is found with respect to the ‘663, ‘867 and ‘958 patents. 
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conduct an analysis of the “EPROMS factors” set forth by the Commission in Certain Erasable 

Programmable Read-Only Memories, Components Thereof, Products Containing Such Memories, 

and Processes for Making Such Memories, Inv. No. 337-TA-276, Comm’n Op. (May 16, 1989).   

In particular, the ALJ failed to altogether consider the analysis and testimony of 

Respondents’ expert, Dr. Vander Veen, who testified that  

 

.  RX-1868C.  In similar cases, however, the Commission has found that this factor weighs 

against the exclusion of downstream products.  See Certain Nor and Nand Flash Memory Devices 

and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-560, Initial Determination (June 1, 2007), 2007 

ITC LEXIS 691, *233-34 (finding EPROMS factor 1 to weigh against exclusion of downstream cell 

phones when the accused flash chips only account for 4-5% of the value and provide only a small 

amount of the overall functionality).  In this investigation, the ALJ found that even “low numerical 

estimates” do not preclude a finding that the value of the infringing articles is great when compared 

to the value of the downstream products, especially given that the “accused articles are of a great 

qualitative value.”  However, there is no evidence in this investigation that the infringing chips have 

a high qualitative value.  LSI does not claim, and there is no evidence in support of, any contention 

that the ‘087 patent is essential to video decoding.  Indeed, LSI chose not to accuse many of the 

video decoder ICs at issue in this investigation of infringing the ‘087 patent.  Without such evidence, 

the ALJ’s conclusion that the ICs have great qualitative value is clearly erroneous. Likewise, the ALJ 

failed to consider record evidence establishing that other EPROM factors weigh against an exclusion 

order directed to Funai’s downstream products.  For example, with respect to the third EPROMs 

factor (incremental value), the ALJ does not account for the fact that Complainants  

. 
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The Commission has broad discretion to select the form, scope and extent of the remedy for 

aviolation of Section 337. See Hyundai Elecs. Indus. Co. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 899 F.2d 1204, 

1208-9 (Fed. Cir. 1990). If it finds a violation, the Commission may issue an exclusion order and/or a 

cease and desist order. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(e) and (f). The remedy imposed must be reasonably related 

to the unlawful practices found to exist. Hyundai Elecs. Indus. Co., 899 F.2d at 1209 (citing Viscofan 

S.A. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 548 (Fed. Cir. 1986)). Accordingly, a remedy must 

be denied if the facts do not support it. Certain Condensers, Parts Thereof, and Products Containing 

Same Including Air Conditioners for Automobiles, Inv. No. 337-TA-334 (December 16, 1996), 

Recommended Determination, 1996 ITC LEXIS 438, at *13. 

In the event, if the Commission determines that there is a violation of Section 337 in this 

investigation the only appropriate form of relief against Respondents would be a limited exclusion 

order without bond and directed solely to further importation of the specific Realtek integrated 

circuits found to infringe. 

B. There is No Basis to Extend a Limited Exclusion Order to Funai Downstream 
Products 

The Commission may issue a limited exclusion order if it determines there is a violation of 

Section 337. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d). Such an order may extend to downstream products of the 

Respondents if their exclusion is necessary to give Complainants complete and effective relief.  

Hyundai Electronics Industries Co., Ltd., 899 F.2d at 1209-10 ; Certain Erasable Programmable 

Read Only Memories, Inv. No. 337-TA-276, Comm’n Op. at fn. 8 (Aug. 1, 1991).  However, 

excluding downstream products potentially expands the scope of an exclusion order and increases the 

risk of interfering with legitimate commerce. See, e.g., Certain Light-Emitting Diodes, Inv. No. 337-

TA-512, Comm’n Det., 2008 WL 1767554 at *5 (Apr. 14, 2008) (stating that “the order should not 

cover downstream products or include [the] requested certification provision, because to do so would 

unduly expand the coverage of the exclusion order to include downstream products that are 
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disproportionately valued relative to the LEDs at issue and would unduly interfere with legitimate 

commerce.”). 

The Commission has identified several factors to consider when determining whether to 

include downstream products in an exclusion order. These factors include: (1) the value of the 

infringing article compared to the value of the downstream products into which they are 

incorporated; (2) the identity of the manufacturer of the downstream products, i.e., whether it can be 

determined that the downstream products are manufactured by the respondent or by a third party; (3) 

the incremental value to the complainant of the exclusion; (4) the incremental detriment to 

respondents of exclusion; (5) the burden on third parties resulting from exclusion; (6) the availability 

of alternative downstream products not containing the infringing articles; (7) the likelihood that the 

downstream products actually contain the infringing articles; (8) the opportunity for evasion of an 

exclusion order not including downstream products; and (9) the enforceability of an order by 

customs.  Certain Erasable Programmable Read-Only Memories (“EPROMs”), Inv. No. 337-TA-

276, Comm’n Op., U.S.I.T.C. Pub. No. 2196 (May 1989), aff’d sub nom.  Hyundai Elec. Indus. Co. 

v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 899 F.2d 1204 (Fed. Cir. 1990). 

The only Funai products at issue in this Investigation are downstream products manufactured 

by Funai that incorporate allegedly infringing integrated circuits and chipsets (“Funai Downstream 

Products”).  Analyzing these factors, commonly known as the “EPROMs factors,” reveals that 

Complainants have not demonstrated that a limited exclusion order should be extended to the Funai 

Downstream Products. 

1. The Value of the Infringing Articles Compared to the Value of the 
Downstream Products Into Which They Are Incorporated. 

In evaluating this first factor, the Commission has generally looked at both the quantitative 

and qualitative value of the infringing article as compared to the downstream products in which they 

are incorporated.  See Certain NOR and NAND Flash Memory Devices and Products Containing 
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Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-560, Initial Determination (June 1, 2007), 2007 ITC Lexis 691 at *233.  Dr. 

Thomas Vander Veen, Funai’s exert in the field of economics and intellectual property valuation 

(Hg. Tr. (Vander Veen) at 1493:10-15), offered testimony regarding both the quantitative and 

qualitative methods of valuing the infringing articles as compared to the downstream products. His 

analysis and opinions demonstrate why this factor weighs heavily against excluding the Funai 

Downstream Products. 

a. Quantitative Value 

As Dr. Vander Veen testified, an “advantage of the quantitative analysis over the qualitative 

analysis is that the quantitative analysis allows a comparison of the relative value accounting for the 

fact that more than one component of a product may be required for the operation and function of the 

overall product.” RX-0008C at QA 41. This is particularly useful when analyzing electronic 

products, which are comprised of many components which may be claimed to be essential to their 

operation. Id. As Dr. Vander Veen explained, “comparing the monetary value of the component to 

the monetary value of the downstream product provides the relative value of the component 

controlling for the presence of multiple potentially essential elements.” Id. 

Dr. Vander Veen’s quantitative analysis demonstrates that the value of the allegedly 

infringing integrated circuits is miniscule compared to the value of the Funai Downstream Products. 

See RX-0008C at QAs 43-83 ; RX-1867C; RX-1868C. In fact, for the vast majority of the Funai 

Downstream Products, the value of the allegedly infringing integrated circuits and chipsets relative to 

the value of the Funai downstream products is . Id. 

Dr. Vander Veen’s analysis is summarized in a number of exhibits discussed in his 

testimony. Exhibits RX-1867C and RX-1868C contain Dr. Vander Veen’s analysis of the broadest 

group of products. RX-1867C shows Dr. Vander Veen’s calculations of the average sales price for 

each Funai Downstream Product, the average purchase price for each integrated circuit contained in 
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those downstream products, and the value of the integrated circuits reflected as a percentage of the 

downstream products. RX-0008C  at QAs 45, 59-60. RX-1867C provides summary statistics of the 

relative values for the products by category of integrated circuit or chipset. Id. at QA 61. This exhibit 

shows that the relative value of the majority of the accused circuits is , and in 

many cases quite lower. Id. at QA 63. As Dr. Vander Veen explained and summarized in RX-1868C, 

he calculated the following relative values for the three types of integrated circuits at issue. 

As seen in RX-1868C, the average percentage value of all of the accused integrated circuits is 

extremely low—with an average of . 

Moreover, Dr. Vander Veen explained that the calculated relative value of some of these 

components actually overstates their value (in some cases significantly overstates the value), because 

the purchase prices he used to calculate them reflects the purchase price of a motherboard or module 

that contains the wireless integrated circuits, and not the price of the actual integrated circuits.  Id. at 

QAs 64-70.  Therefore, the percentage value of those integrated circuits is actually even lower than 

the values that Dr. Vander Veen calculated. 

Dr. Vander Veen also analyzed two smaller subsets of products—(1) one subset limited those 

products accused of infringement by Complainants’ experts, and (2) a second subset consisting of 

products that were both accused of infringement by Complainants’ experts and contained in the Joint 

Statement of Accused Products. Id. at QAs 71-84; See also RDX-0008C.001 – RDX-0008C.008.  Dr. 
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Vander Veen’s analysis of these two subsets resulted in consistent findings, as summarized below in 

RDX-0008C.004 and RDX-0008C.008.  As these summaries reveal, no matter how the data is sliced, 

the value of the allegedly infringing integrated circuits remains miniscule compared to the value of 

the Funai Downstream Products. 

The low relative value of the accused integrated circuits as compared to the value of the 

Funai Downstream Products supports Dr. Vander Veen’s opinion that this factor weighs against 

exclusion of the Funai Downstream products. 

In similar cases, the Commission has found that this factor weighs against the exclusion of 

downstream products. See Certain Nor and Nand Flash Memory Devices and Products Containing 

Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-560, Initial Determination (June 1, 2007), 2007 ITC Lexis 691 at *233-34 

(finding EPROMs factor 1 weighs against exclusion of downstream cell phones when the accused 
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flash chips only account for 4-5% of the value and provide only a small amount of the overall 

functionality); Certain HSP Modems, Software and Hardware Components Thereof, and Products 

Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-439, Initial Determination (October 18, 2001), 2001 ITC Lexis 

797 at *140 (finding an exclusion order covering downstream PCs was not warranted when, inter 

alia, the comparative value of the PC to the infringing component was extremely high). 

The testimony of Complainants’ expert, Dr. Kerr, provides no legitimate basis for 

challenging the conclusions of Dr. Vander Veen. Dr. Kerr admitted that he did not perform a 

quantitative analysis of his own; rather, his opinions are based only on his subjective qualitative 

analysis.  CX-1595C at QA 423; CX-1642C at QA 18.  Dr. Kerr also admitted that could not identify 

any arithmetic errors in Dr. Vander Veen’s analysis.  Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 814:25-815:2. 

b. Qualitative value 

Dr. Vander Veen also opined regarding the subjective qualitative value of the accused chips 

in assessing the first EPROMs factor. His analysis in this respect also supports a finding that this 

factor weighs against excluding Funai’s Downstream Products. 

As Dr. Vander Veen explained, the accused integrated circuits that are incorporated into 

Funai’s downstream products are not critical to the function of the downstream products.  RX-0008C  

at QA 86.  Moreover, consumers do not demand Wi-Fi functionality in their purchases of accused 

digital televisions, Blu-ray disc players, home theater systems and other audio visual products. Id.  

For the Funai Accused Products,  of the products sold in the United States 

included Wi-Fi capability. Id. at QAs 86-94; RX-1869C.  As a percentage of dollar sales, products 

with Wi-Fi functionality accounted for only  of the sales of Funai Downstream 

Products.  Id.  The very small portion of Accused Products sold with Wi-Fi functionality indicates 

that consumers do not demand this functionality, or deem it essential, in their purchase of digital 

televisions, Blu-ray disc players, home theater systems and other audio visual products. 

PUBLIC VERSION



 
 
 

32 
 

Dr. Kerr’s opinions regarding the qualitative value of the accused integrated circuits are not 

persuasive. First, as Dr. Vander Veen pointed out in his rebuttal testimony, Dr. Kerr provides no 

basis for his opinions that without the functionality provided by the asserted patents, the downstream 

products would not be able to effectively compete in the market.  RX-2815C at QA 103.  In fact, the 

evidence demonstrates quite the opposite—that there is a thriving market for devices without Wi-Fi 

capability.  Indeed, Dr. Kerr acknowledged that customers have the option to purchase products with 

Wi-Fi capability as well as products without Wi-Fi capability, and that—as Dr. Vander Veen’s 

analysis clearly shows—many consumers choose to purchase Blue-Ray players, digital TVs, and 

DVD players that do not have Wi-Fi technology. Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 815:3-816:19. 

Second, while Dr. Kerr opines that consumers’ decisions to purchase Wi-Fi-equipped devices 

as opposed to non-Wi-Fi-equipped devices indicates the value of the Wi-Fi technology, his analysis 

is flawed and unreliable.  Aside from the data provided by Dr. Vander Veen, Dr. Kerr cites to only a 

single document in support of his opinion that consumer purchases of Wi-Fi equipped devices 

indicates the value of the Wi-Fi feature.  CX-1624C at QA 19.  That document, CX-1006C, 

 

 Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 819:9-19.   assessment 

of the value of Wi-Fi technology. Dr. Kerr relied specifically on  

 

 CX-1006C; CX-1624C  at QA 

19. Yet Dr. Kerr admitted that he did not independently verify the information   CX-

1006C. Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 822:24-8.  Dr. Kerr also admitted that he does not know the differences 

between  and that there could be differences between the 

products other than . Id. at 821:14-21. Therefore, Dr. 

Kerr cannot reliably attribute  solely to the 
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presence or absence of Wi-Fi technology. Moreover, and most notably, Dr. Kerr did not perform any 

independent research regarding the percentage of Blu-Ray purchasers, digital TV purchasers, or 

DVD purchasers who demand Wi-Fi technology.  Id. at 816:20-817:20.  Therefore, his opinions 

regarding the value of Wi-Fi technology are ad hoc, untethered to any probative evidence and 

unreliable. 

Third, Dr. Kerr also opines that the fact that devices such as BluRay players and DTVs are 

increasingly being offered only with Wi-Fi capability is “a further indication of the value of the 

technology of the WLAN patents.” CX-1624C at QA 25.  This opinion is flawed for several reasons.  

First, Dr. Kerr cites no evidence whatsoever in support of his bold statement that these devices are 

increasingly being offered with only Wi-Fi capability.  Second, Dr. Kerr ignores the fact that there 

exists a significant market for non-Wi-Fi-equipped devices, as shown, for example, by Funai’s actual 

sales.  Third, Dr. Kerr ignores the possibility that manufacturers may have other reasons for deciding 

to sell only Wi-Fi-equipped devices beyond customer demand for this feature, such as an interest in 

efficiency in streamlining manufacturing. 

Because the accused integrated circuits are monetarily insignificant in comparison with the 

value of the downstream products and are not functionally essential in these types of products, this 

factor weighs heavily against excluding Funai Downstream Products. 

2. The Identity of the Manufacturer of the Downstream Products. 

Complainants’ boldly proclaim that “where downstream products in question are 

manufactured by respondents that are parties . . . , the Commission has generally found that EPROMs 

Factor 2 weighs in favor of downstream relief.” Compl. PrHB at 828. The single case to which 

Complainants cite in support of this over broad statement does not support this its legal claim. Id. 

(citing Certain Microprocessors, Components Thereof, and Products Containing Same, 337-TA-781, 

Init. Determ., 2012 ITC LEXIS 2658 at *497 (Dec. 14, 2012).  Rather, the cited case simply stands 
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for the proposition that factor 2 is not relevant where the manufactures of the downstream products 

are named respondents in the investigation. Id.10 

The parties do not dispute that Funai manufactures the downstream products at issue in this 

Investigation. Therefore, this factor is not relevant and cannot weigh in favor of excluding 

downstream products. 

3. The Incremental Value to the Complainant of the Exclusion of the 
Downstream Products. 

The incremental value to Complainants of an exclusion order covering the Funai 

Downstream products is minimal.  First, it is undisputed that Complainants  

  

  See Hg. Tr. (  at 216:11-21, 217:8-17; Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 

791:10-14, 824:11-18; RX-0008C at QAs 103-108.  As such, it is undisputed that Complainants 

 resulting from the exclusion 

of the Funai downstream products.  Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 824:19-22; RX-0008C at QA 108. 

To the extent that Agere and LSI assert that they would receive an incremental benefit from 

an increase in royalty revenue resulting from an increase in the sales of its licensees, any such 

incremental benefit from the exclusion of Funai’s downstream products is likely to be small.  As Dr. 

Vander Veen explained in detail, of the  different licensees of one or more of the patents-in-suit 

identified by Complainants,  .  RX-

2475 at 6-7; RX-0008C at QAs 109-117; RX-1870C.   

  

.  Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 825:5-

                                                 
10  The products that Funai manufactures for , who are not respondents in this 
investigation, are no longer at issue in this Investigation as a result of Order No. 83. Therefore, any 
argument by Complainants that any products made by Funai for  should be 
excluded would be improper.  
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13, 827:20-828:1. 

There appears to be only 

- !d. However, even 

the United States is likely to be 

--
, the impact of an order excluding Funai products in 

RX-0008C at QA 117. Fm1her, there is no evidence in the record regarding any 

increase in sales that Complainants' licensees, including. , could expect ifFunai's Downstream 

Products are excluded. Dr. Ken did not perfonn any analysis of the amount of increased sales that 

Complainants' licensees could expect ifFunai' s products are excluded. Hg. Tr. (Ken) at 828:2-7. 

Therefore, any claim that Complainants would receive increased licensing revenue as a result of the 

exclusion ofFunai's products would be pure speculation. 

Complainants' primruy argmnent regru·ding incremental benefit apperu·s to be that excluding 

Funai's downstream products will allow Complainants 

See Compl. PrHB at 830; CX-1642C at QA 41 . However, 

even for this ru·gmnent, Complainants offer no evidentiaty supp011. Id. Dr. Ken's rebuttal witness 

statement includes nothing more than generalized, unsupp011ed statements, such as: 

CX-

1642C at QA 41. In suppo11 of this statement, Dr. Ken cites no documents, no testimony, nothing. 

Compounding the evidentiruy issues, Dr. Ken makes no eff011 to quantify this supposed "indirect 

gain" that would result from excluding downstrerun products. 

Moreover, to the extent that Complainants asse11 that excluding downstream products would 

give , this ru·gmnent 

35 
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stands in stark conflict with Complainants’ position that they are in compliance with their RAND 

obligations for the ’663, ’958, and ’867 patents.  Complainants’  

 is inconsistent with their obligation to offer fair, reasonable, and 

nondiscriminatory licensing terms, consistent with their obligations to the standards-setting 

organizations as discussed herein.  See Certain Electronic Devices, Including Wireless 

Communication Devices, Portable Music and Data Processing Devices, and Tablet Computers, ITC 

Inv. No. 337-TA-794, Notice of Commission Determination to Extend the Target Date; Requesting 

Additional Submissions on Remedy and the Public Interest at 3, Question 7 (requiring Samsung to 

explain how any changes it intends to make to its license offer once a remedial order is entered 

would comport with its requirement to offer a fair, reasonable and nondiscriminatory license). 

In short, Complainants’ arguments regarding incremental benefit are unpersuasive and 

unavailing. Because any incremental benefit to Complainants from the exclusion of Funai 

Downstream Products is likely to be very limited, this factor weighs heavily against an exclusion 

order covering downstream products. 

4. The Incremental Detriment to Respondents of Exclusion. 

The evidence has shown that an exclusion order extending to Funai Downstream products 

will have a significant detrimental impact on Funai in a number of ways. 

First, Funai recently obtained a license to sell  accessories in the United 

States, which are accessories to certain of the Accused Products that are imported and sold by Funai.  

RX-0008C at QAs 128-131; JX-0037C at 15, 45.  Although these accessory products are not 

Accused Products in this Investigation, the exclusion of the  Accused Products will 

result in lost sales to Funai of these non-accused accessory products.  RX-0008C  at QAs 132; Hg. 

Tr. (Vander Veen) at 1524:5-15.  Second, an exclusion order would prevent Funai from honoring its 
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warranties to its existing customers to repair or replace defective products. Id. at QAs 133-140; RX-

1722; RX-1723. This would cost Funai money, time, and goodwill of its customers. 

Finally, as discussed above, the vast majority of the value of the Funai Downstream Products 

( 11) is generated from non-infringing components. In 2011, Funai sales of 

Accused Products in the United States totaled .  RX-0008C at QAs 120-123; RPX-

0004C; RPX-0005C; RPX-0006C; and RPX-0007C.  Between January and October 2012, Funai 

sales of Accused Products have totaled .  Id.  Exclusion of the accused products would 

have a significant detrimental economic impact on Funai that would be unfairly disproportionate, 

given that only a small percentage of the value of the Funai Downstream Products is attributable to 

the value of the infringing components.  RX-0008C at QAs 122-127. 

Therefore, this factor weighs against excluding downstream products.  Id. at QA 141. 

5. The Burden On Third Parties Resulting From Exclusion. 

As discussed above, an exclusion order would prevent Funai from honoring its warranties to 

its existing customers to repair or replace defective products.  RX-0008C at QA 143; RX-1722; RX-

1723.  Therefore, consumers who have already purchased the Accused Products would be unable to 

obtain replacement parts or products under the terms of the warranty covering the purchased 

products.  Complainants’ expert, Dr. Kerr, agrees that an exclusion order that does not have an 

exclusion to permit legitimate repair and replacement would adversely affect Funai’s customers 

whose products needed service.  Hg. Tr. (Kerr) at 829:13-830:16. 

Given the burden on customers that would result from exclusion of the Funai Downstream 

Products absent an exception to allow repair or replacement, this factor weighs against excluding 

these products.  See RX-0008C at QA 144. 

                                                 
11  The difference between 100% and the component share of downstream products as explained infra 
I part (B)(1)(a) [“Quantative Value”]. 
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6. The Availability of Alternative Downstream Products That Do Not 
Contain the Infringing Articles. 

Under this factor, the Commission considers the availability of alternative, non-infringing 

downstream products. While there are alternative downstream products that do not contain the 

allegedly infringing components available in the market in the United States, an order excluding the 

Funai Accused Products would reduce consumer choice of digital televisions, Blu-ray disc players, 

home theater systems, and other audiovisual devices. See RX-0008C at QA 146. 

7. The Likelihood That the Downstream Products Actually Contain the 
Infringing Articles and Are Thereby Subject to Exclusion. 

Under this factor, the Commission considers the likelihood that the imported downstream 

products actually contain the infringing articles and are thereby subject to exclusion. An order 

excluding all Accused Products imported by or on behalf of Respondents would likely result in the 

exclusion of products, the vast majority of which do not contain the allegedly infringing components. 

Among the Accused Products sold by Funai in the United States are  

products.  These  products accounted for approximately  of Funai’s sales in 

the United States in 2012.  RX-0008C at QAs 148-150; RX-1721C; RPX-0004C; RPX-0005C; RPX-

0006C; and RPX-0007C.  A portion of these  products are manufactured by Funai.  

However, a portion of the  products are purchased by Funai from   RX-0008C 

at QAs 150-162; JX-0030C at 51; JX-0037C at 16-18.  For the  products manufactured by 

 (or other third party original equipment manufacturers), the system on a chip (SOC), decoder, 

and/or wireless integrated circuits may be sourced from parties other than MediaTek Inc., MediaTek 

USA Inc., MediaTek Wireless, Inc. (USA), Ralink Technology Corporation, Ralink Technology 

Corporation (USA), and Realtek Semiconductor Corporation.  In other words, a portion of the 

Accused Products sold by Funai in the United States are neither manufactured by Funai nor contain 

allegedly infringing components manufactured by a Respondent.  Id.  Further, Funai does not have 
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any input regarding which integrated circuits are used in these  products, nor does  

provide that information to Funai.  RX-0008C at QAs 159-161. 

Thus, an order excluding all Accused Products imported by or on behalf of Respondents 

would likely result in the exclusion of many products that do not contain any allegedly infringing 

components.  Id. at QA 162.  Therefore, this factor weighs against excluding Funai Downstream 

Products. 

8. The Opportunity for Evasion of an Exclusion Order That Does Not 
Include Downstream Products. 

Under this factor, the Commission considers whether a respondent could evade an exclusion 

order that does not include downstream products.  Certain Baseband Processor Chips and Chipsets, 

Transmitter, and Receiver (Radio) Chips, Power Control Chips, and Products Containing Same, 

Including Cellular Telephone Handsets, U.S. International Trade Commission Inv. No. 337-TA-543, 

Commission Determination, Pub. No. 4258 (October 2011) 2011 ITC LEXIS 2613, at *192-3 

(stating that if “there is a pre-existing practice whereby virtually all infringing articles are 

incorporated into downstream products prior to importation, then the continuation of that practice 

would not constitute evasion for purposes of EPROMs Factor 8”). 

In this case, current manufacturing practices for the Accused Products involve the 

manufacture and assembly of the accused downstream products outside the United States.  RX-

0008C at QA 164.  As such, an exclusion order that does not include downstream products would not 

result in the relocation of production operations outside the United States in order to evade an 

exclusion order.  Therefore, this factor does not weigh in favor of excluding the Funai Downstream 

Products. 

9. The Enforceability of an Order by Customs. 

Under this factor, the Commission considers the ability and burden on Customs to enforce an 

order.  In this case, the Accused Products consist of a large range of products, including digital 
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televisions, Blu-ray disc players, Net boxes/HD streaming players, home theater systems, other 

audiovisual devices and products of similar designs with built-in Wi-Fi; digital televisions, Blu-ray 

disc players, home theater systems, other audiovisual devices and products of similar designs that are 

able to process multimedia data streams; and digital televisions, Blu-ray disc players, home theater 

systems, DVD players, digital television/DVD player combinations, digital television/Blu-Ray disc 

player combinations, DVD/Blu-ray disc players, other audiovisual devices and products of similar 

designs that have a unified memory.  See RX-0008C at QA 166; Compl. PrHB at 52-61; see also 2d 

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 35-37.  The Accused Products are classified under several headings and subheadings 

of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) including: 8521, 8522, 8525, 8527, 8528, 8529 and 

8542. RX-0008C at QA 166; See also 2d Am. Compl. ¶ 142.  The large number of products and HTS 

numbers covered by an order would likely impose a burden on Customs. 

Further, the same model of the Accused Products may incorporate an integrated circuit which 

is sourced from multiple suppliers.  RX-0008C at QA 166.  Some of these integrated circuits may be 

infringing and some may be non-infringing.  Therefore, Customs would be required to open the 

packaging and disassemble the product in order to determine (if the agent could even make such a 

determination) whether the imported product contained an infringing integrated circuit.  Id.  As such, 

the enforcement of an order would be burdensome for Customs and this factor weighs against 

exclusion of the Funai Downstream Products should the Commission find a violation of Section 337. 

Id. 

C. A Cease and Desist Order Is Unwarranted as to the Funai Downstream 
Products. 

Complainants have not met their burden of demonstrating that Funai has a “commercially 

significant” inventory of accused products in the United States for any of the Asserted Patents.  

Complainants had ample opportunity to develop evidence regarding the inventory of the Funai 

Downstream Products in the United States, yet failed to do so.  Complainants cite to the depositions 
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of Funai corporate representative Yoichi Kanazawa and P&F corporate representative Dale Luengen 

as evidence that Funai and P&F keep “significant inventory of the accused downstream products” in 

the United States.  See Compl. PrHB at 838-39.  However, the testimony that Complainants elicited 

at these depositions does not establish that these companies have significant inventories of products 

alleged to infringe the Asserted Patents. 

At their depositions, both Mr. Kanazawa and Mr. Luengen were asked about whether Funai 

and P&F, respectively, have “commercially significant” volumes of inventory in the United States.  

See JX-0030C at 41:11-42:13, JX-0037C at 40:9-41:4.  Importantly, these questions (posed by 

Complainants) only went to the company’s inventory generally; and were not directed to products 

alleged to infringe any of the Asserted Patents at issue in this Investigation.  Id.  For example, Mr. 

Kanazawa was asked,  

  JX-0030C  at 40:14-16.  Neither this question nor Mr. 

Kanazawa’s answer were specific to the inventory of accused products alleged to infringe the 

Asserted Patents. Similarly, Mr. Luengen was asked a series of questions about P&F’s inventory that 

were not specific to any products alleged to infringe the Asserted Patents.  JX-0037C at 40:6-41:17.  

He testified that he did not know either the overall number of units or the value of the product P&F 

had in inventory.  Id.  Contrary to Complainants’ assertion in their pre-hearing brief, Mr. Luengen 

did not testify that  

  Compl. PrHB at 839.  In the 

testimony Complainants cite, Mr. Luengen was asked:  

  JX-0037C at 41:7-17.  He responded:  

 

 This testimony does 

not remotely establish P&F’s level of inventory of any products, let alone the accused products. 
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This generalized testimony regarding inventory levels does not establish that there is a 

“commercially significant” inventory of accused products in the United States for any of the 

Asserted Patents in this investigation.  See Certain Digital Imaging Devices and Related Software, 

Inv. No. 337-TA-717, Initial Determination, 2011 WL 2742200 at *176 (May 12, 2011) (refusing to 

recommend a cease and desist order because Complainants provided only general information 

regarding the quantity of products imported and failed to provide information regarding the domestic 

inventory of accused products); see also Certain Bulk Welding Containers, Inv. No. 337-TA-686, 

Initial Determination, 2010 WL 2997812 at *167 (Jul. 29, 2010) (refusing to recommend a cease and 

desist order, declining to assume that because Respondent previously imported certain quantities of 

product in the past, that it must be holding a commercially significant amount at present).  There was 

no further testimony at the hearing regarding Funai’s inventory of accused products in the United 

States. Moreover, there is no other evidence in the record that demonstrates that the Funai 

Respondents have a “commercially significant” inventory of accused products in the United States.  

Therefore, Complainants have not met their burden, and a cease and desist order should not issue as 

to the Funai Respondents. 

D. Any Limited Exclusion Order or Cease and Desist Order Should Exclude 
Products on the Joint Statement of Accused Products for Which Complainants 
Offered No Proof of Infringement 

On September 12, 2012 the parties issued their Joint List of Disputed Claim Terms, Proposed 

Constructions of Claim Terms with Agreed Constructions, and Statement Regarding Identification of 

Accused Products (EDIS Doc. No. 490897) (hereafter “Joint Statement of Accused Products”).  The 

Joint Statement of Accused Products listed, inter alia, 84 Funai products.  “By listing a product in the 

joint filing, a respondent does not admit infringement. Nevertheless, the joint filing indicates the final 

extent of Complainants’ accusations in this investigation.” Order No. 67 at 2-3 fn.5. 
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IX. If the Commission Finds a Violation of Section 337, and Determines an Exclusion 
Order Is Appropriate, the Commission Should Set Bond at Zero, or at Maximum 

 of the Value of the Accused Integrated Circuit (not the downstream product), 
During The Presidential Review Period 

 When determining the proper bond, the Commission seeks to compensate the 

patentee for the introduction of infringing articles into the United States during the Presidential 

Review Period.  As such, the Commission attempts to determine a reasonable royalty with respect to 

the patents at issue.  Only if the harm to the patentee is not capable of being determined should bond 

be set at 100% of the value of the infringing items.  See e.g., Certain Semiconductor Chips with 

Minimized Chip Package Size and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-432, Recommended 

Determination (Oct. 1, 2001); Certain Acid-Washed Denim Garment and Accessories, Inv. No. 337-

TA-324, Comm’n Op., USITC Pub. 2576 (Nov. 1992).  The complainant “has the burden of 

supporting any proposition it advances, including the amount of the bond,” id., and no bond is 

required where there is “no evidence in the record to support any bond to offset any competitive 

advantage resulting from the unfair acts of [respondents] from their importations.” Certain Rubber 

Antidegradants, Components Thereof, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-533, 

Comm’n Op., 2006 ITC LEXIS 591, at *59 (July 21, 2006).  

In his recommended Determination on Remedy and Bonding, the ALJ recommended that if a 

violation of Section 337 is found, that bond should be set at  of the value of the entered 

products.  As explained in its papers to the ALJ (see Resp.’s Init. Post-Hrg. Brf. at 587-594; Resp.’s 

Reply Post-Hrg. Brf. at 175-76), Funai’s position is that there has been no violation of Section 337, 

and therefore no bond is necessary.  Funai further submits that in the case of the ‘663, ‘867 and ‘958 

patents, that for the reasons stated above, the public interest dictates that even if there is a violation of 

Section 337, neither an exclusion order nor a cease and desist order should issue.  However, should 

the Commission both find that there is a violation of Section 337 in this investigation and that a 
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limited exclusion order and/or a cease and desist order should issue, Funai submits that there should 

be no bond during the presidential review period.   

A. LSI Has Put Forward No Evidence on Bond 

LSI’s argument that it is entitled to a 100% bond is incorrect, and was properly rejected by 

the ALJ.  See Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bonding at 14-15.  This is not a case 

where the harm to LSI is not capable of being calculated.  Rather, LSI made a conscious decision to 

offer no evidence at the hearing on the issue.  Complainants stated in their interrogatory responses 

that . See Exh. 45 RX-2233  

at 142 ( ). Dr. Kerr, however, 

never addressed bonding. See CX-1595C at QAs 1–116.  Thus, the only evidence Complainants 

 bonding is nonexistent. Certain Silicon Microphone 

Packages & Prods. Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-629, Comm’n Op., 2010 WL 4788911, at 

*13 (Sept. 2010).  Complainants also offered no evidence in their post-hearing brief concerning the 

proper bond (likely because such evidence would have undermined its argument that its offer to 

Funai complied with RAND).  See Complainant’s PHB at 593-94.  Because the complainant is 

required to affirmatively prove bond, in the absence of evidence from the complainant, the proper 

bond value is zero.  Certain Polyimide Films, Products Containing Same, and Related Methods, Inv. 

No. 337-TA-772, Final Init. Det., 2012 ITC LEXIS 1376 at *505-506 (May 10, 2012) (citing Certain 

Rubber Antidegradants, Components Thereof, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-533, 

Comm’n Op., 2006 ITC LEXIS 591, at *59 (July 21, 2006)); Certain Imaging and Printing Devices 

and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-690, Final Init. Det., 2010 ITC LEXIS 2190 at *730-731 

(Sept. 23, 2010) (same).   
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B. The Only Record Evidence Suggests a  Bond Based on the Value of the 
Integrated Circuit 

Should the Commission determine that some bond for the patents-in-suit is appropriate, 

Funai submits that the bond should be no more than 0.555-16.389 cents for the ‘867 and ‘958 

patents, and no more than 0.8-9.5 cents for the ‘663 patent, as found in the Microsoft v. Motorola 

case.  Microsoft, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *239-242, *266-269.  In any event, the total bond should 

be no more than  of the cost of the decoder and WiFi integrated circuits, which LSI admits are 

the accused infringing components.   

As an initial matter, the ALJ’s recommended determination completely fails to address 

Funai’s arguments concerning other cases in which RAND royalties have been set.  Bond should 

only be “sufficient to protect the complainant from any injury.”  19 U.S.C. § 1337(e).  The 

commission has the ability to set bond at the level of a reasonable royalty, when that rate can be 

ascertained.  Certain Integrated Circuit Telecommunication Chips & Products Containing Same, 

Including Dialing Apparatus, Inv. No. 337-TA-337, Comm’n Op., 1993 WL 13033517, at *27–28 

(June 22, 1993).  LSI has committed to license the three patents that it has declared standard-essential 

(the ‘867, ‘958 and ‘663 patents) at a RAND rate.  Thus, by LSI’s own admissions, the RAND rate is 

sufficient compensation for the use of those three patents.  Since the close of the hearing, three 

separate district courts have had the opportunity to weigh in on what the proper RAND rate is for a 

portfolio of patents that practice the H.264 and 802.11 standards, and in each case, those courts have 

determined that a RAND rate is within the ranges stated above.   

First, in Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60233 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 

25, 2013), the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington found that, for a 

portfolio of sixteen patents essential to practice the H.264 standard, and eleven patents essential to 

practice the 802.11 standard, a fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory rate was 0.8-9.5 cents for the 

H.264 patents and 0.555-16.389 cents for the 802.11 standard.  In the case of In re Innovation IP 
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Ventures, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144061 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 3, 2013), the United States District Court for 

the Northern District of Illinois found that a RAND rate for nineteen patents essential to the practice 

of the 802.11 standard was 9.56 cents per finished product.  Finally, in Ericsson Inc. v. D-Link Sys., 

Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110585 (E.D. Tex. Aug. 6, 2013), the United States District Court for 

the Western District of Texas found that a RAND rate for three patents essential to the practice of the 

802.11 standard was 15 cents.  

 If the Commission chooses to set the bond at  of the value of the infringing 

product, the ALJ’s refusal to recommend that bond be set based on the value of the integrated circuit 

is incorrect.  The Federal Circuit has been clear that when a reasonable royalty is determined, it 

should be assessed not at the end-product level but at the allegedly infringing-component level. See 

LaserDynamics, Inc. v. Quanta Comp., Inc., 694 F.3d 51, 67 (Fed. Cir. 2012) (reaffirming that 

royalty rates should be assessed based on the smallest salable component that infringes); see also 

Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc., Case No. 2:10-cv-01823-JLR (W.D. Wash. Apr. 25, 2013) 

(declining to set RAND rate based on price of end-product).  As the Federal Circuit remarked last 

year: 

Where small elements of multi-component products are accused of infringement, 
calculating a royalty on the entire product carries a considerable risk that the patentee 
will be improperly compensated for non-infringing components of that product. Thus, 
it is generally required that royalties be based not on the entire product, but instead on 
the smallest salable patent-practicing unit.  

Laser Dynamics, 622 F.3d at 67.  (internal quotation marks omitted). Indeed, it would be 

incorrect to base a royalty rate “on sales of the entire product, as opposed to the smallest salable 

patent-practicing unit, without showing that the demand for the entire product is attributable to the 

patented feature.” Id. at 67–68. LSI and Agere have not made such a showing in this case. Indeed, 

Funai’s downstream products are televisions and Blu-ray players, neither of which are demanded 

because of either the MPEG or WLAN functionality that relates to Complainants’ patents.  Such a 
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rate is also consistent with the RAND rates found by other courts.  The evidence adduced at the 

hearing shows that the integrated circuits accused of infringement the ‘867 and ‘958 patents by 

Complainants, and incorporated into Funai’s downstream products have a cost of 

.  See RX-1867C.  A bond of  of the value of the integrated circuit 

would result in a rate of  per accused product, as shown below: 

Downstream 
Product Model 
Number 

Integrated 
Circuit Number 

Integrated Circuit 
Manufacturer 

Average 
Purchase Price 

Bond at  
Value 

     
     
     
     
     

     
     

     
     
     

     
     
     
     
     
     

     
     
     
     
     
     

 

See RX-0008C at Q/A 74.  This is at the higher end of the RAND range found in the 

Microsoft v. Motorola case for eleven patents, well above the RAND rate found for nineteen patents 

in Innovatio IP Ventures, and slightly above the RAND rate for three patents in Ericsson v. D-Link.  

Similarly, the evidence adduced at the heating shows that the integrated circuits accused of infringing 

PUBLIC VERSION



PUBLIC VERSION



PUBLIC VERSION



 
 
 

51 
 

 

X. Conclusion 

For the reasons stated herein, Respondent Funai respectfully requests that, in the event 

the Commission finds a violation of Section 337 with respect to any of the patents asserted by 

LSI, the Commission decline to enter either a limited exclusion order or a cease and desist order.  

Funai further requests that, in the event the Commission chooses to issue either a limited 

exclusion order or a cease and desist order, that either no bond be required during the 

Presidential Review Period, or that the bond be no more than  of the entered value of the 

integrated circuit accused of infringement. 
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